IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOSEPH MAYOR,

Petitioner,

vs.

**WORKERS' COMPENSATION
APPEALS BOARD,**

Respondent and Appellant,

**ROSS VALLEY SANITATION
DISTRICT,**

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S287261

**RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF
ON THE MERITS**

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A169465
Workers' Compensation Appeals Board, Case No. ADJ10036954

ANNE SCHMITZ, State Bar No. 166664

ASchmitz@dir.ca.gov

ERIC D. LEDGER, State Bar No. 273423

EDLedger@dir.ca.gov

ANDREW A. WOOD, State Bar No. 280901

AWood@dir.ca.gov

Workers' Compensation Appeals Board

455 Golden Gate Avenue, Ste. 9328

San Francisco, CA 94102

Telephone: (415) 703-5028

INTRODUCTION

TO THE HONORABLE PATRICIA GUERRERO, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND
TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME
COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

For over 30 years, the courts of this state have held that equitable tolling may be applied to the statutory deadline for the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board ("Appeals Board") to act upon petitions for reconsideration. Under former Labor Code¹ section 5909, (Stats. 1992, ch. 1226, § 5), the Appeals Board must act on petitions for reconsideration – appeals from the decisions of workers' compensation administrative law judges ("WCJs") – within 60 days of filing, and failure to act within 60 days

¹ Unless otherwise stated, all further statutory references are to the Labor Code.

means a petition is deemed denied by operation of law. (Former § 5909, Stats. 1992, ch. 1226, § 5.)²

In *Shipley v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1104, 1107 (“*Shipley*”), the Fourth District held that because section 5909 is premised upon the Appeals Board having possession of a petition for reconsideration, equitable tolling may apply to extend the 60-day deadline to act in cases where the Appeals Board did not timely receive the petition, and the petitioning party’s due process rights were therefore abridged through no fault of their own. The Appeals Board urges this Court to endorse *Shipley*’s common-sense resolution of this issue.

This case perfectly illustrates why the holding of *Shipley* is sound. Here, the petition for reconsideration of the WCJ’s decision was timely and properly filed at the Department of Workers’ Compensation (“DWC”) district office – an independent agency over which the Appeals Board does not exercise direct control – as required by the governing regulations. Unfortunately, the assigned WCJ did nothing in response to the petition for reconsideration for more than 60 days. Most importantly, as explained below, the petition for reconsideration, and the case file, were not sent to the Appeals Board, as the governing regulations require. Thus, the Appeals Board was not aware of the petition for reconsideration and could not act upon the petition during the 60-day period. After the 60 days had elapsed, the Appeals Board was made aware of the petition and issued an order granting reconsideration. In its subsequent decision after reconsideration, the Appeals Board concluded that pursuant to *Shipley*, equitable tolling was appropriate because the petition was timely and properly filed, but due to the WCJ’s error

² Section 5909 was recently amended, effective July 2, 2024. This case concerns the language as it existed prior to that amendment. Further references to section 5909 refer to the former section, unless noted.

the Appeals Board was not aware of its existence and could not act upon it within 60 days of its filing.

Nonetheless, in this case the First District rejected the Fourth District's analysis in *Shiple*, appearing to hold that the section 5909 deadline is jurisdictional in the fundamental sense, so that equitable tolling is entirely unavailable to extend the deadline as a matter of law, regardless of the circumstances. (*Mayor v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2024) 104 Cal.App.5th 1297 (“*Mayor*”).) Essentially, the Court enabled the WCJ to ensure – by inaction and in the absence of any statutory authority or the Appeals Board's knowledge – the denial of the timely filed petition for reconsideration of the WCJ's own decision. Such a result is not compatible with even the most rudimentary notions of due process. Moreover, a significant consequence of finding that section 5909 is jurisdictional in the fundamental sense is that the Court of Appeal creates a mechanism for collateral attack of every decision issued by the Appeals Board in the past 30 years where equitable tolling was applied pursuant to *Shiple*.

In so holding, the Court of Appeal also exceeded its jurisdiction in granting the petition for writ of mandate where a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy existed in law: writ of review under section 5950. The Appeals Board therefore also urges this Court to clarify that a writ of mandate is not the proper procedural vehicle for a party to seek review of the Appeals Board's finding that the section 5909 deadline has been equitably tolled.

For these reasons, and for the reasons stated below, the Appeals Board respectfully asks this Court to hold that the *Mayor* decision was wrongly decided and should be reversed.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. May the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board apply equitable tolling to act upon a petition for

reconsideration beyond the 60-day period provided in section 5909, when the Appeals Board did not receive the petition for reconsideration until after the 60-day period has elapsed?

- II. Did the Court of Appeal act in excess of its jurisdiction in granting relief under traditional mandate (Code of Civil Procedure, § 1085), where petitioner did not file a timely petition for writ of review pursuant to section 5950?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 2, 2023, the WCJ issued a “Findings, Award, and Orders,” which found, in pertinent part, that petitioner was permanently totally disabled. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1301.)

On March 23, 2023, real party in interest, Ross Valley Sanitation District (“Ross Valley”), timely filed a petition for reconsideration at the DWC district office. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1302.)

Absent any order rescinding or amending the Findings, Award, and Orders within the first 15 days of filing, the WCJ was required to prepare a report on the petition for reconsideration and transmit the petition for reconsideration to the Appeals Board. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 10961, 10962.) In this case, however, the WCJ failed to take any action in response to the petition.

On June 5, 2023, Ross Valley wrote to the Appeals Board to inquire about its petition for reconsideration. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1302.) The Appeals Board first received notice of the petition on or about June 15, 2023. (*Ibid.*)

On August 14, 2023, the Appeals Board issued an “Opinion and Order Granting Petition for Reconsideration” (“Order Granting Reconsideration”), which preliminarily granted reconsideration to study the issues raised. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1302.) No party filed a petition for writ of review in response to the August 14, 2023 order granting reconsideration.

In September 2023, petitioner wrote to the Appeals Board asking why the petition for reconsideration was not timely received. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1302.) The Appeals Board did not respond. (*Ibid.*)

On January 9, 2024, petitioner filed the petition for writ of mandate. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1302.)

On January 26, 2024, the Appeals Board issued its “Opinion and Order Granting Petition for Reconsideration and Decision After Reconsideration (“January Decision”),” which rescinded the WCJ’s decision and returned the matter to the trial level for further development of the record. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1302-1303.)

On February 2, 2024, the Appeals Board issued its “Opinion and Order Granting Petition for Reconsideration and Decision After Reconsideration (“February Decision”),” which rescinded the January 26, 2024 decision in its entirety and issued a new decision, which included an explanation for why it exercised its discretion to find that equitable tolling was appropriate based on the factual record in this case. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1303.)

The Court of Appeal found that the Appeals Board exceeded its jurisdiction when it issued the August 14, 2023 order granting reconsideration more than 60 days after the date the petition was filed at the DWC district office. (*Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at p. 1309.) The Court granted a writ of mandate and ordered that the Appeals Board rescind its

order granting reconsideration and its January and February decisions. (*Id.* at p. 1316.)

RELEVANT HISTORICAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Before addressing the legal issues, it is critical to understand how petitions for reconsideration were handled at the time section 5909 was enacted and how that process has changed in response to various workers' compensation legislative reforms. In analyzing the statute's history, the Legislature clearly intended that the Appeals Board act on petitions for reconsideration within 60 days of *the date a petition is received by the Appeals Board*.

The California Constitution states in relevant part that: "The Legislature is hereby expressly vested with plenary power, unlimited by any provision of this Constitution, to create, and enforce a complete system of workers' compensation, by appropriate legislation[.]" (Cal. Const., art. XIV, § 4.) Thus, the workers' compensation system is entirely created by statute via its constitutional mandate and is the exclusive remedy for injuries in the workplace. (§§ 3201, 3602, 5300.)

The workers' compensation system began with the establishment of the Industrial Accident Commission ("IAC") in 1913 as part of the Boynton Act and is the precursor to California's modern workers' compensation framework. (Stats. 1913, ch. 176, § 3.) The IAC was responsible for and controlled all aspects of workers' compensation, including both adjudication and administration of claims.³

³ Former § 111, Stats. 1937, ch. 90 ("The Division of Industrial Accidents and Safety shall be under the control of and governed by the Industrial Accident Commission consisting of three members."); Stats. 1989, ch. 892, § 11 ("Existing workers' compensation law authorizes the Division of Industrial Accidents to administer the state workers' compensation system.

Section 5909 was first enacted in 1937 as part of a comprehensive restatement of workers' compensation law. (§ 2.) The section originally stated:

A petition for a rehearing⁴ is deemed to have been denied by the commission unless it is acted upon within thirty days from the date of filing. The commission may, upon good cause being shown therefor, extend the time within which it may act upon such petition for not exceeding thirty days.

(Former § 5909, Stats. 1937, ch. 90.)

When section 5909 was enacted, the IAC directly employed “referees,” the historical equivalent of WCJs.⁵ Petitions for reconsideration were filed directly with the IAC and then referred to the referee to issue a report. In drafting section 5909, the Legislature understood that petitions for reconsideration were filed directly with the IAC, a single body.

As explained in a 1953 treatise:

After receipt and formal filing in the Commission's document register, each petition for reconsideration is ordinarily referred back to the concluding trial referee for review. He is also furnished with the answer to the petition, when it is received, and with any reply which may be filed. After a study of these documents, he prepares a report, together with an appropriate order granting or denying the petition (or other indicated action). (Section 10878 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.)⁶

(1 Hanna, *The Law of Employee Injuries and Workmen's Compensation* (1st ed. 1953), at p. 139.)

⁴ The term “petition for rehearing” was renamed as a “petition for reconsideration” as part of the 1951 workers' compensation reform bill. (Stats. 1951, ch. 778, § 25.) To simplify this discussion, all further references are to a petition for reconsideration, even if filed before 1951.

⁵ Former § 123, Stats. 1937, ch. 90 (“The commission may employ . . . referees . . . to perform the duties and exercise the powers which are under the jurisdiction of the commission.”). See Footnote 6, *infra*.

⁶ In 1955, the Legislature amended section 5908.5 to state that only the IAC and not the referee could decide a petition for reconsideration. (Stats. 1955, ch. 1822, § 1.)

In 1965, a significant restructuring led to the creation of two separate entities: the Appeals Board and the DWC. (Former § 110, subd. (a), Stats. 1965, ch. 1513.) Authority over administration was removed from the Appeals Board and transferred to the Administrative Director at the DWC. (*Id.*; see also, § 111.) Today, the Appeals Board is vested with the judicial power to adjudicate workers' compensation cases. (§ 111.)

Administration of the trial-level system for workers' compensation cases is through the DWC, and the DWC employs the WCJs. (§ 123.)⁷ The two divisions share a single system of adjudication, beginning at the trial level before a WCJ employed by the DWC at a DWC district office, and followed by an appeal from the trial level to the Appeals Board through a petition for reconsideration. (§§ 5308, 5309; see §§ 27, 123, 123.5, 123.6.) All documents, including petitions for reconsideration, are filed directly at the DWC district office with venue because the DWC maintains the case files.⁸

Under the statutory framework, only the Appeals Board may rule on an appeal of a trial-level decision, and this authority may not be delegated to

⁷ Pursuant to section 123.5, workers' compensation judges are administrative law judges as defined by the State Civil Service Act (Govt. Code, §§ 18500, et seq.) and additionally, must have experience in workers' compensation law. Prior to 1998, workers' compensation judges were referred to as 'referees.' (§ 27 ["Whenever the term "workers' compensation judge" or "workers' compensation referee" is used in this code in connection with the workers' compensation law, the term shall mean "workers' compensation administrative law judge."].) As the terms 'workers' compensation judge' and 'referee' are synonymous, and to avoid confusion, we use the term 'WCJ' as referring to both.

⁸ The DWC, and not the Appeals Board, is tasked with creating and maintaining all case files. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10205, subd. (p) ["Electronic Adjudication Management System" or "EAMS" means the computerized case management system used by the Division of Workers' Compensation to store and maintain adjudication files and to perform other case management functions."].)

a WCJ. (§ 5908.5.) Parties aggrieved by a trial-level decision by the WCJ may seek timely appeal to the Appeals Board by way of a petition for reconsideration. (§ 5903.) However, as explained above, a petition for reconsideration is filed at the DWC district office that issued the challenged decision and is not filed directly with the Appeals Board. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10940.)⁹ Unlike during the time of the IAC, the Appeals Board does not refer the petition for reconsideration to the WCJ to prepare a report. *Instead, the petition for reconsideration is automatically referred by EAMS to the WCJ before the Appeals Board is ever aware of it.* Thereafter, the WCJ has 15 days to review the petition in the first instance and amend or rescind the original order, decision, or award. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 10961, 10962.) Otherwise, the WCJ must prepare a report and recommendation and transfer the petition and the case file to the Appeals Board to determine the appeal. (*Ibid.*)¹⁰

In reviewing the legislative history of section 5909, the phrase “from the date of filing” implicitly assumes the petition is received by the Appeals

⁹ “‘Filing’ a document means receipt and acceptance by the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board of the document for the purpose of having it included in the adjudication file.” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 10305, subd. (m).)

¹⁰ Through EAMS, the WCJ “transmits” the petition to the Appeals Board and transfers ownership and control of the entire case file to the Appeals Board. If the case is not transmitted, ownership and control of the entire case file remains at the DWC district office. Separate case files are not created for appellate proceedings on reconsideration.

Similarly, before EAMS, entire paper case files traveled back and forth from the DWC district office to the Appeals Board, and while the matter was pending on reconsideration, the Appeals Board had ownership and control of the entire paper case file.

Therefore, for ease of discussion, where we refer to transmission of the petition for reconsideration, it necessarily includes transferring ownership and control of the entire case file to the Appeals Board.

Board. This comports with common sense and was the basis for the Fourth District allowing equitable tolling in *Shiple*:

While [section 5909] appears mandatory and jurisdictional, **the time periods must be based on a presumption that a claimant's file will be available to the board**; any other result deprives a claimant of due process and the right to a review by the board. We emphasize *Shiple*'s file was lost or misplaced through no fault of his own and due to circumstances entirely beyond his control. Surely the Legislature did not write the statute in anticipation of a system so inefficient that such gaffes were statutorily provided for.

(*Shiple*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.4th at p. 1107 (emphasis added).)

To summarize, section 5909 was enacted when the Appeals Board was the sole entity in charge of workers' compensation. The Appeals Board hired and supervised the referees. The Appeals Board was responsible for receiving filings and maintaining the court record. Today, the Appeals Board continues to be responsible for adjudication of cases, but all administrative functions are placed in the DWC, which is a separate division of government. The Legislature split the functions of the Appeals Board in 1965, but did not predict how that change would affect adjudication of cases such as the case at bar, where a DWC district office receives a petition for reconsideration as part of its administration of a case, but fails to transmit it to the Appeals Board for a decision on the petition.

The legislative history of section 5909 together with the changes to the structure of the Appeals Board further explains why the Legislature recently amended section 5909. Effective July 2, 2024, section 5909 was modernized to conform the statute to longstanding practice by making explicit that the 60-day period begins when the file is transmitted to the Appeals Board, not when the petition is initially filed. (§ 5909, Stats. 2024, ch. 52, § 27 (AB 171), effective July 2, 2024, repealed July 1, 2026.) Fully understanding this process further calls into question the Court of Appeal's

supposition that the Legislature was responding to the holding in *Zurich v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Uribe)* (2023) 97 Cal.App.5th 1213 (“*Zurich*”).

ARGUMENT

I. **Labor Code section 5909 is a nonjurisdictional statute, premised upon the Appeals Board’s ability to review the petition for reconsideration, and may be equitably tolled in cases where the Appeals Board is unable to review the petition for reconsideration.**

Consideration of this issue can be broken down into three subparts:

- A) Is section 5909 jurisdictional or nonjurisdictional?
- B) If section 5909 is nonjurisdictional, is the statute subject to equitable tolling?
- C) If section 5909 is subject to equitable tolling, do the facts of this case warrant it?

(See *Law Finance Group, LLC v. Key* (2023) 14 Cal.5th 932, 950-957 (“*Law Finance Group*”).)

A. **Labor Code section 5909 is nonjurisdictional.**

At all times relevant to this case, section 5909 stated: “A petition for reconsideration is deemed to have been denied by the appeals board unless it is acted upon within 60 days from the date of filing.” (Former § 5909, Stats. 1992, ch. 1226, § 5.)

As noted in *Law Finance Group, LLC, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at p. 949, the term “jurisdiction” has many different meanings. Here, the term “jurisdictional” is used to refer to the *presence or absence of fundamental jurisdiction, in the absence of which equitable considerations cannot apply.* (See *id.* at pp. 949-950.)

Whether a statute is jurisdictional or nonjurisdictional is a complex analysis:

To be sure, mandatory procedural rules—like many statutes of limitations or other filing deadlines—serve important policy goals, and courts must enforce them when properly raised. [Citation.] But we will not assume that the Legislature intended to imbue a time bar with jurisdictional consequences merely because the statute speaks in mandatory terms; as we have said, “jurisdictional rules are mandatory, but mandatory rules are not necessarily jurisdictional.” [Citation.] To establish that a particular filing deadline is jurisdictional, more is required. Much as the high court has said of Congress, our Legislature “must do something special, beyond setting an exception-free deadline, to tag a statute of limitations as jurisdictional” in the fundamental sense.

(*Law Finance Group, LLC, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at p. 950.)

Examples of statutory language that is jurisdictional include the following:

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