S287261

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

Joseph Mayor,
Petitioner,

v.

Workers' Compensation Appeals Board
and
Ross Valley Sanitation District,
Respondents.

COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR
CASE NUMBER A169465

WCAB CASE NUMBER ADJ10036954
HON. THOMAS J. RUSSELL

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Elizabeth Hudson, Esq. (SBN: 161391)
Shoemaker Law Offices
150 Glen Cove Marina Rd. E, Ste. 103
Vallejo, CA 94591
Telephone (707) 552-1000 / Facsimile: (707) 552-1445
Email: beth@shoemakerlawoffices.com

Attorney for Petitioner, Joseph Mayor

I. CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE

[California Rule of Court 8.204]

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

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Labor Code §5909 is Mandatory and Jurisdictional, and the Appeals Board Does Not Have Fundamental Jurisdiction to Consider a Petition for Reconsideration After the Expiration of the 60-day Limit Set Forth in the Statute.

Usually, the Appeals Board’s interpretation of workers’ compensation laws is entitled to great weight.⁴³ But as this Court recently noted in *Dept. of Corrections v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ayala)*,⁴⁴ deference to the Appeals Board’s interpretation of a statute is not warranted when its position is “contrary to the plain language of the statute.”⁴⁵ As explained by the *Mayor* court, deference to the Appeals Board is not warranted for its statutory interpretation Section 5909 because the statutory language is clear and unambiguous and its interpretation is contrary to prevailing case law.⁴⁶ While the Appeals Board has extensive expertise in workers’ compensation matters, it does not have any

⁴³ *Brodie v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1313, 1331, 57 Cal. Rptr. 3d 644.

⁴⁴ *Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Board (Ayala)* (2025) 2025 Cal. LEXIS 860 (Sl. Op., February 20, 2025).

⁴⁵ *Ayala, supra*, Sl. Op. at 26.

⁴⁶ *Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at 1305, citing *Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Fitzpatrick)* (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 607, 617, 238 Cal.Rptr.3d 224.

particular expertise in whether a statute is jurisdictional in the fundamental sense, and should not be provided deference to an interpretation that is erroneous.⁴⁷

The Supreme Court in *Law Finance Group, LLC v. Key* recently outlined the analytical framework required to determine whether a statutory time bar has jurisdictional consequences.⁴⁸ The plain language of the statute and the legislative intent to remove the issue from a court or agency’s fundamental jurisdiction must be examined.⁴⁹ There is a “presumption that statutes do not limit the courts’ fundamental jurisdiction absent a clear indication of legislative intent to do so,” and “our Legislature ‘must do something special, beyond setting an exception-free deadline, to tag a statute of limitations as jurisdictional’ in the fundamental sense.”⁵⁰ That is precisely what has occurred here.

1. THE PLAIN TEXT OF LABOR CODE §5909 DEMONSTRATES THAT THE STATUTE IS JURISDICTIONAL.

At all times relevant, Section 5909 provides: “A petition for reconsideration is deemed to have been denied by the appeals board unless it is acted upon within 60 days from the date of filing.”⁵¹ It is difficult to conceive of a statute that is more concise and which makes its intent more clear.

⁴⁷ *Bonnell v. Medical Board* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1255, 1265, 8 Cal.Rptr.3d 740, 2003 Cal. LEXIS 9847.

⁴⁸ *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 945-946, 950 [examining jurisdictional issues raised by statutory scheme governing judicial proceedings over private arbitration, and concluding that CCP §1288.2 was not jurisdictional because statute made no reference to power of courts].

⁴⁹ *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 946-947; *Bonnell, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at at 1261-1262.

⁵⁰ *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 950 [citation omitted].

⁵¹ Labor Code §5909.

As *Law Finance* noted, factors such as whether the statute “speaks only to the obligations of the litigants” or whether the statute “makes reference to the power of the courts” are relevant considerations of “the Legislature’s intent to remove a class of cases from the court’s fundamental jurisdiction.”⁵² Section 5909’s phrase “deemed to have been denied by the appeals board unless acted upon” solely and expressly speaks to power of the Appeals Board to act on a petition for reconsideration. This is a clear marker that the statute is jurisdictional.

Other statutory signals which render a time deadline to be jurisdictional include the absence of express language allowing for an extension of the deadline by either a party by stipulation or the court by order, or language which limits the power of a court to rule after a specified time period expires.⁵³ Here, there is no mechanism in Section 5909 for a litigant or the Appeals Board to extend the time to act.

In *Kabran v. Sharp Memorial Hospital*, Supreme Court addressed jurisdictional issues in the context of the statutory scheme governing a party’s right to file a motion for a new trial.⁵⁴ As noted in *Kabran*, the inclusion of a consequence or a penalty for non-compliance, or whether the consequences of “holding a time limitation mandatory or jurisdictional ‘would defeat or promote the purpose of the enactment’” is also indicia of a

⁵² *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 946-947, 950.

⁵³ *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 951.

⁵⁴ *Kabran v. Sharp Memorial Hospital* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 330, 335; 212 Cal.Rptr.3d 361, 2017 Cal. LEXIS 80 [examining jurisdictional nature of statutory scheme for procedures and deadlines associated with litigating new trial motion].

jurisdictional statute.⁵⁵ As specified in Section 5909, the consequence of the Appeals Board’s failure to timely act is that the petition for reconsideration is “deemed to have been denied” by operation of law.

Importantly, statutes governing the court’s power to act beyond a specified time limit after which the request was statutorily “deemed denied” have been found to be outside the court or agency’s jurisdiction.⁵⁶ Here, two Supreme Court cases are particularly instructive because of the similarities in statutory language to Section 5909. In *J.M. v. Huntington Beach Union High School District* (“*J.M.*”)⁵⁷ this Court rejected a minor’s request for relief filed more than 6 months from which an administrative claim was “deemed denied” because this language could not be “construed away,” despite the liberal construction afforded to minors.⁵⁸ And in *Bonnell v. Medical Board*⁵⁹ this Court found the deemed

⁵⁵ *Kabran, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at 343.

⁵⁶ *J.M. v. Huntington Beach Union High School Dist.* (2017) 2 Cal. 5th 648, 651-652, 214 Cal.Rptr.3d 494, 2017 Cal. LEXIS 1609. *J.M.* addressed jurisdictional issues relating to Government Code §911.6(c) [application deemed denied where agency fails to act within 45 days].

⁵⁷ *J.M., supra*, 2 Cal. 5th at 651-652. *J.M.* involved a minor who sustained a head injury during a high school football game, and did not file a timely claim against the public entity (school district) within the required six months. Through counsel, the minor then submitted a timely application to file a late claim. The school district took no action within the 45-day time period in which they had to act on the late claim application. The minor then petitioned the superior court for relief to present a claim before bringing suit, but relief was denied because the request for relief was filed more than 6 months from which the claim was denied or deemed denied. The Court found that “by operation of law, *J.M.*’s application was deemed denied.”

⁵⁸ *J.M., supra*, 2 Cal.5th at 654.

⁵⁹ *Bonnell v. Medical Board* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1255, 8 Cal.Rptr.3d 532, 2003 Cal. LEXIS 9847. *Bonnell* involved Government Code §11521(a), which in relevant part states: “If no action is taken on a petition within the time allowed for ordering reconsideration, the petition shall be deemed denied.”

denied language of the statute to be “unambiguous and allows a maximum 10-day stay for agency review of an already filed petition for reconsideration. As a result, the Board’s decision to order a reconsideration is void for lack of jurisdiction.”⁶⁰

The Legislature’s specification of a time limit for a court to act has significance. As noted in *J.M.*,

In all circumstances, a late claim application is deemed denied after 45 days, even though section 911.6(b)(2) would entitle the minor to relief if the application had merit. By placing this limitation on the entity’s time to act, the Legislature ensured that applications would not languish.⁶¹

The court in *Zurich* made the same observation about section 5909, finding that the statute also ensured that reconsiderations would not languish:

A similar construction here is the most consistent with the Constitutional directive for the workers’ compensation system to accomplish substantial justice expeditiously and inexpensively.⁶²

The “deemed denied” language present in Section 5909 strongly supports the inference that the Legislature has “done something special, beyond setting an exception-free deadline.”⁶³ The statute specifies a clear consequence for the Appeals Board’s failure to act. Language granting the power to extend the deadline is absent. These legislative choices ensure that action on reconsideration will be prompt, and advance the constitutional mandate that workers’ compensation claims be decided expeditiously and inexpensively.

⁶⁰ *Bonnell, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at 1265 [agency’s order of reconsideration was made without jurisdiction where statutory deadline had already expired and rendered petition deemed denied].

⁶¹ *J.M., supra*, 2 Cal.5th at 653.

⁶² *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1235.

⁶³ *Law Finance, supra*, 14 Cal.5th at 950.

2. THE STRUCTURE OF THE RELEVANT STATUTORY SCHEME
DEMONSTRATES THAT SECTION 5909 IS JURISDICTIONAL.

The statutory scheme governing reconsideration by the Appeals Board can be found in Labor Code §§5900 through 5911, and the statutory scheme governing judicial review of workers' compensation orders, decisions or awards can be found in Labor Code §§5950 through 5956.⁶⁴ Sections 5900, 5903 and 5909 all specify the times for seeking and granting reconsideration.⁶⁵ Section 5950 specifies the time for filing a petition for writ of review.⁶⁶ Section 5909, which expressly specifies a consequence for the Appeals Board's non-compliance with the statutory deadline, takes a step further than the jurisdictional indicia included in Sections 5900 and 5903, which mention deadlines but no consequence.

The filing deadlines in Labor Code §§5900(a), 5903, and 5950 are mandatory and jurisdictional.⁶⁷ Moreover, Labor Code §5900(b), which sets forth the power of the Appeals Board to grant reconsideration on their own motion within a 60-day deadline, has been also determined to be mandatory and jurisdictional.⁶⁸ When making its determination that Labor Code §5900(b) is mandatory and jurisdictional, the Court in *United States Pipe & Foundry Co.* noted:

⁶⁴ Labor Code, Division 4, Part 4, Chapter 7, Reconsideration and Judicial Review.

⁶⁵ Labor Code §§5900, 5903 and 5909.

⁶⁶ Labor Code §5950.

⁶⁷ Labor Code §§5900(a) and 5903, which together set forth the 20-day deadline for an aggrieved party to file a reconsideration, have been found to be mandatory and jurisdictional. *United States Pipe & Foundry, supra*, 201 Cal.App.2d at 548-549. Labor Code §5950, which sets forth the 45-day deadline for an aggrieved party to file a petition for writ of review with the Court of Appeal has also been found to be jurisdictional. *Camper, supra*, 3 Cal.4th 679 at 687.

⁶⁸ *United States Pipe & Foundry, supra*, 201 Cal.App.2d at 548-549.

We conclude that the statute precludes the commission's grant of reconsideration after the lapse of 60 days. The language clearly states that “within 60 days after the filing of an order ... the commission may ... grant reconsideration”; such language suggests no hint of ambiguity. It is no different in effect than the provision fixing the time for filing a petition for reconsideration “within 20 days after the service of any final order” The commission properly treats the latter procedure as mandatory and did so in the instant case. The fact that the former procedure is self-generated does not serve to distinguish it, and we must accordingly apply the legislative mandate in both instances.⁶⁹

Section 5909 must be construed in light of the holding in *United States Pipe & Foundry Co.* and also be determined to be jurisdictional.

While the text of Section 5909 may not contain an express prohibition on equitable tolling, equitable exceptions are inconsistent with this statutory scheme. Section 5909 is not a filing deadline and does not speak to obligations of the litigants, but it does inform litigants as to when their filing obligation ends under Section 5950.⁷⁰ If the language of Section 5909 is not read to mean what it plainly says, the statutory deadline for filing a petition for writ of review set forth in Section 5950 becomes unclear. As significantly noted in *Zurich*, “an aggrieved party, even a self-represented employee, has the ability to calculate when the 60-day period runs under section 5909, as well as the 45-day deadline for filing a petition for review under section 5950.”⁷¹

⁶⁹ *United States Pipe & Foundry, supra*, 201 Cal.App.2d at 550-551.

⁷⁰ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1235 [legislative history behind Section 5909 supports interpretation that “under the current statutory scheme, sections 5909 and 5950 work in tandem, providing certainty in section 5909 as to when the deadline for seeking judicial review under section 5950 commences.”].

⁷¹ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1239 fn. 22.

The Appeals Board has suggested that its continuing jurisdiction under Labor Code §§5410 and 5804 somehow illustrates that Section 5909 does not have jurisdictional consequences.⁷² However, the Appeals Board’s continuing jurisdiction after five years from the date of injury is limited and not determinative of the issues presented in this case.⁷³ While the Appeals Board has continuing jurisdiction to enforce an Award and correct clerical errors, it is impermissible to disturb a final award of compensation after five years.⁷⁴

3. THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY DEMONSTRATES THAT SECTION 5909 STATUTE IS JURISDICTIONAL.

The court in *Zurich* conducted a comprehensive review of the legislative history behind Labor Code §5909, demonstrating that the Appeals Board does not have jurisdiction over a reconsideration if not acted upon within the time limits set forth by the Legislature.⁷⁵

Since the Legislature’s enactment of the first compulsory workers’ compensation system in 1917, there has been a provision that reconsiderations (originally called rehearings) are deemed denied when not acted upon within the statutory deadline.⁷⁶ The

⁷² Respondent’s Opening Brief on the Merits, pp. 20 and 41.

⁷³ Five years from the date of Petitioner’s injury expired on December 9, 2018; therefore, pursuant to Labor Code §5804, the Appeals Board does not have jurisdiction to rescind, alter or amend Mr. Mayor’s final Award of March 2, 2023. Labor Code §§5803, 5804, 5410.

⁷⁴ *Barnes v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 679, 681, 686-687, 97 Cal.Rptr.2d 638, 2000 Cal. LEXIS 780 [Labor Code §5804 deprives Appeals Board of jurisdiction over final award of compensation after five years “consistent with the purpose of the limitation period to foster both certainty and finality in the law”].

⁷⁵ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1232-1236.

⁷⁶ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App. 5th at 1232-1234.

legislature was aware that if the Appeals Board takes no action within 60 days, the remaining judicial review would be more limited.⁷⁷

Equitable exceptions to Section 5909 are inconsistent with the Legislative history, which demonstrates the Legislature’s intent to remove a petition for reconsideration from the Appeals Board’s jurisdiction after the expiration of the statutory deadline to adhere to “the constitutional goal that the system ‘accomplish substantial justice in all cases expeditiously, inexpensively, and without incumbrance of any character.’”⁷⁸ To interpret the Legislative history otherwise would result in open-ended and undefined delays, which are the antitheses of the policy goals for the workers’ compensation system. As this Court recently emphasized in *Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation v. Ayala*, the worker’s compensation statutory scheme is designed to provide “prompt compensation” for the costs of industrial injuries, and afford employees “relatively swift and certain payment of benefits.”⁷⁹ Accordingly, *Mayor* correctly relied upon the *Zurich*’s comprehensive discussion of statutory interpretation of Section 5909 and the supporting legislative history.⁸⁰

While it is undoubtedly true that the right to appellate review must be protected, a party does not have a stand-alone due process right to review on reconsideration by the

⁷⁷ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1239 fn 21.

⁷⁸ *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App.5th at 1232-1234.

⁷⁹ *Ayala, supra*, Sl. Op. at p. 6.

⁸⁰ *Mayor, supra*, 104 Cal.App.5th at 1311-1312; *Zurich, supra*, 97 Cal.App. 5th at 1230-1237.

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